Filed 12-16-2019

**RECEIVED** 

12-16-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

Page 1 of 34

COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT II

Case Nos. 2019AP001753-CR & 2019AP001754-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

**Brief of Appellant** 

BENJAMIN J. KLAPPS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Revoking Conditional Release under Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e) Entered in Winnebago County Circuit Court, Judge Scott C. Woldt, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JEFREN E. OLSEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1012235

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8387 olsenj@opd.wi.gov

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

At the hearing on the petition to revoke Benjamin Klapps's conditional release under Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e), the circuit court ordered revocation based on information not admitted into evidence. Is Klapps entitled to a new hearing, either because the circuit court was objectively biased or, in the alternative, in the interests of justice?

In ordering revocation of Klapps's conditional release, the circuit court relied on reports written and filed before the revocation proceeding by a psychologist who did not testify at the revocation hearing. (203:22-24; App. 122-24).

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is warranted. This case involves the application of established law to the facts and the issues can be fully addressed in the parties' briefs.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

In 2000 Benjamin Klapps was charged with criminal offenses in two separate cases. In the first case he was charged with one count of second degree sexual assault of a child. (2019AP1753: R.1). In the

second case he was charged with felony bail jumping. (2019AP1754: R.1). He resolved both cases with a stipulated disposition under which he was found not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect and committed to institutional care for 26 years, 8 months. (2019AP1753: R.17; 2019AP1754: R.14). <sup>1</sup>

Klapps has been granted conditional release five times over the past two decades. The first grant was in October 2005. (49; 51; 52). Klapps committed various violations in the months after his release, was taken into and then released from custody, and his conditional release was ultimately revoked in July 2006. (53; 54; 55; 56; 57; 59; 61; 63; 64; 65).

He was next granted conditional release in July 2008, but that was rescinded two months later due to his behavior before the release plan was approved by the court. (82; 83; 84; 85).

He was granted conditional release again in July 2010. (97). While Klapps was taken into custody over alleged violations in January and June 2013, those violations did not result in revocation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because the two cases under review were not initiated at the same time, the number of documents in the records of the cases differs. However, since the two cases were disposed of together in October 2000, the proceedings and filings in them have been virtually identical. After Klapps filed a notice of appeal in each case, he moved to consolidate the appeals, and this court granted the motion. In the rest of this brief Klapps cites only to the record index numbers from Case No. 2019AP1753-CR, unless otherwise indicated.

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 8 of 34

proceedings and he was released. (98; 99; 100). His conditional release was ultimately revoked in March 2014 for multiple violations over the previous three-plus years. (101; 102; 103; 104; 106; 109; 110; 112).

In May 2016 Klapps was again conditionally released. (136). A few months later his agent sought to revoke the release order based on Klapps's violations of his conditions of release, including using a cell phone to access the internet and an unauthorized email account and to send and receive nude images. (137; 139; 140; 143; 146). The court granted the petition to revoke in September 2016. (148).

The most recent grant of conditional release was in December 2018. (192). That conditional release was revoked after a hearing held in March 2019. (196; 197; 203; App. 101-24). This revocation proceeding is the subject of this appeal.

On his release in December 2018 Klapps was placed at Bonnie View Adult Family Home. (191:1). The probable cause statement in support of the petition to revoke conditional release alleged that between the time he was released to Bonnie View and end of February 2019, Klapps: the inappropriate sexual statements to Bonnie View staff; failed to follow directives to not sexually harass Bonnie View staff; pursued an intimate relationship with a staff member; and failed to disclose information to his treatment provider. (193; 194). The Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 9 of 34

details of this alleged conduct were set out in a summary created by Klapps's case manager, Patrick Woodbridge, based on his review of Bonnie View records. (195:2-3; 203:4, 5; App. 104, 105).

At the revocation hearing the state called Woodbridge to testify. (203:3; App. 103). Woodbridge testified he saw in Klapps's records "a troublesome pattern of inappropriate comments that were often sexual in nature, including what we viewed as very threatening comments." (203:5; App. 105). He then read his summary of the incidents. (203:6-11; App. 106-11). The incidents pertinent to the conduct alleged to support revocation, all of which occurred in 2019, were these:

- On January 10 Klapps told his sex offender treatment therapist, Karen Barter, that he was having sexual fantasies about B.B., the person initially assigned to be his case manager. Barter explained to Klapps that having sexual fantasies with someone he worked with directly is considered a risk. (195:2; 203:7; App. 107). As a result of this disclosure, Woodbridge was assigned to be his new case manager. (195:2; 203:8; App. 118).
- On January 11 Klapps told D.K., a Bonnie View staff member, that he thought he had to go to the doctor because he had "a hard on for 3 hours but it went away." (195:2; 203:7; App. 107).

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 10 of 34

• On January 14 Klapps was told not to talk to staff members at Bonnie View about his previous sexual encounters; he agreed and stated he would not bring up the topic again. (195:2; 203:7-8; App. 107-08).

- On January 31 Klapps continually asked D.K. why she was not doing his room checks anymore. (195:2; 203:8; App. 108).
- On February 3 Klapps followed D.K. around while she was working and was instructed to give her space to do her work. (195:3; 203:8; App. 108).
- On February 12 Klapps told a staff member that he was worried because some staff were saying other staff were "afraid of him," though he was unable to give specific examples. The next day, he asked D.K. if she was scared of him; when she replied, "no," Klapps said "[g]ood, because if I was going to attack you, I have had plenty of chances and I have feelings for you as a staff resident relationship." (195:3; 203:8; App. 108).
- On February 14, Barter addressed with Klapps his approach to and boundaries with staff and told him not to speak to staff about any sort of attraction. (195:3; 203:9; App. 109). The next day, however, Klapps approached D.K. and told her he had feelings for her, could not help the way he feels, but would never act on his feelings because he does not want to get in trouble. He also said that if he was going to attack her he would have done so already

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 11 of 34

because he had many chances, but "I won't because I don't want to get in trouble." (195:3; 203:9-10; App. 109-10).

• On February 17 Klapps told D.K. he was having thoughts of suicide, but not an "urge" to kill himself, and that it was his urges that are dangerous. He went on to tell D.K. that he had been having sexual urges about her since that morning, causing D.K. to go into the staff office and shut the door. Woodbridge did not know what time Klapps said this to D.K., but she reported she could hear Klapps pacing back and forth until 10:00 p.m. (195:3; 203:10, 16; App. 110, 116).

Based this incident with D.K.. on February 19 Barter advised Klapps's treatment team that he was demonstrating risky behavior and on February 21 he was taken into custody. When he was Klapps told of the allegations, became argumentative, saying "I did not touch [D.K.] or do anything" and complaining the staff at Bonnie View lie and that "I'll beat the hell out of them" if he was placed back there. (195:3; 203:10-11; App. 110-11).

Woodbridge's testimony also cited other incidents describing Klapps's resistance to or noncompliance with staff directives (going out to smoke instead of waiting in a clinic lobby; getting out of the car to stay with the staff chaperone during errands) that Woodbridge believed demonstrated Klapps was pushing boundaries, and that behavior, along with the sexual nature of Klapps's comments,

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 12 of 34

led the treatment team to believe Klapps was a risk to others. (195:2-3; 203:6-7, 9, 11; App. 106-07, 109, 111).

Woodbridge During cross examination acknowledged it was appropriate for Klapps to disclose suicidal thoughts to staff, as disclosure of his emotional and mental state is part of treatment. (203:12; App. 112). He also confirmed that Klapps had no physical contact with staff and made no specific threats of physical harm, nor did he have any sexual contact with staff or make any specific threats or descriptions about sexual activity beyond his generalized statement about sexual "urges." (203:12-13; App. 112-13). While Klapps was told to limit disclosure of sexual urges or thoughts to his therapist, that directive was conveyed to him February 14. (203:13; App. 113). Because Klapps saw his therapist every other week, he could not disclose his thoughts to her in the interim, and it happened that Barter was unavailable for the three weeks following her directive to him about such disclosures; thus, until Barter's return to availability, he would have had to disclose at least the general matter of his thoughts to staff and ask to see a therapist. (203:13-15, 16-17; App. 113-15, 116-17). Further, Klapps had complied with the directive he was given on January 14 to not disclose to staff his past sexual encounters. (203:15-16; App. 115-16).

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 13 of 34

The state called no witnesses other than Woodbridge and offered no exhibits into evidence. (203:18-19; App. 118-19). Klapps called no witnesses. (203:19; App. 119).

The parties then made their arguments about whether Klapps's conditional release should be revoked. The state argued Woodbridge's testimony proved Klapps "engaged in a pattern of escalating risky behavior, threatening sexual comments, um, that the State believes do pose a risk to the community, others, especially the staff members." Accordingly, the state argued Klapps was "a danger to himself or others at that placement at -- in -- in the community" and his conditional release should be revoked. (203:19; App. 119).

Klapps's attorney argued the state did not prove by clear and convincing evidence that Klapps was dangerous to himself or others and that his release should continue. conditional albeit someplace other than Bonnie View. (203:20;App. 120). As to being a danger to himself, defense counsel argued that the one instance of suicidal thoughts with no specific plan did not establish such a danger. (203:22; App. 122). As to risk to others, counsel argued that Klapps followed the directive not to talk about previous sexual encounters, and that his statements to D.K. after being directed not to tell staff about any attraction he was feeling had to be in of assessed the context his therapist's unavailability and the concomitant treatment Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 14 of 34

expectation that he disclose his thinking to reduce the risk he simply internalizes and acts on the thoughts. (203:20-21; App. 120-21). Further, while he disclosed to staff that he was having sexual urges or feeling sexually attracted, he also said he was not going to act on them. Though his poorly phrased sentiment was "concerning," it is still the fact that he controlled his behavior and therefore was not a danger to others. (203:21-22; App. 121-22). Thus, counsel argued, while Klapps certainly needed more direction on and control over appropriately discussing his thoughts, the incidents did not show by clear and convincing evidence that Klapps was a danger to others. (203:22; App. 122).

The court granted the petition to revoke conditional release. The court rejected defense counsel's argument about how Klapps's disclosures should be construed because counsel was not an expert and the only evidence before the court was Woodbridge's testimony. (203:22-23; App. 122-23). The court continued:

Clearly, based upon the nature of the underlying offenses which are sexual in nature, the mental history here with Mr. Klapps -- and I think this goes back to what Dr. Hauer said -- that really there's nothing you can do with Mr. Klapps. It's not really -- it's more of a there's no mental -- or psychotropic drugs or anything like that can change him. It's more of a personality disorder, and there's nothing we're really going to do to change him. He is a predator, a sexual predator, and all he does is try to prey on people and use

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 15 of 34

predatory skills such as intimidation of people to try to get them to succumb to his predatory instincts which I don't think there's anything we're going to be able to do to change him. That's what Dr. Hauer says, and from time to time we try to give him another shot on conditional release and within months we're back here with a hearing for withdrawal of the conditional release because of the predatory instincts taking over once again.

(203:23; App. 123). Citing Klapps's statement that he would "beat the hell out of people" if he went back to Bonnie View and saying that Klapps was told "numerous times" to stop talking about his sexual experiences and his attraction to staff but "he continues to do it," the court found the state had proven by clear, and convincing evidence that Klapps posed a substantial risk of bodily harm to others. (203:23-24; App. 123-24). Accordingly, it revoked the conditional release order. (197; 203:24; App. 124).

Klapps appeals. (2019AP1753: R.199; 2019AP1754: R.190). Additional relevant facts will be included in the argument section, below.

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 16 of 34

#### **ARGUMENT**

Klapps is entitled to a new revocation hearing because the circuit court's reliance on information not admitted into evidence at the revocation hearing shows that the circuit court was objectively biased or, in the alternative, that the real controversy was not tried.

A. The law governing revocation of conditional release.

Wisconsin Statute § 971.17(3)(e) governs revocation of conditional release granted under Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(d) or (4). The statute provides in pertinent part that:

.... If the department of health services alleges that a released person has violated any condition or rule [of release], or that the safety of the person or others requires that conditional release be revoked, he or she may be taken into custody under the rules of the department. The department of health services shall submit a statement showing probable cause of the detention and a petition to revoke the order for conditional release to the committing court.... The state has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that any rule or condition of release has been violated, or that the safety of the person or others requires that conditional release be revoked. If the court determines after hearing that any rule or condition of release has

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 17 of 34

been violated, or that the safety of the person or others requires that conditional release be revoked, it may revoke the order for conditional release and order that the released person be placed in an appropriate institution ... until the expiration of the commitment or until again conditionally released under this section.

Proceedings under § 971.17(3)(e) to revoke conditional release must meet a minimum level of due process. In particular, a person subject to revocation of conditional release is entitled to the same procedure required in probation or parole revocation proceedings. State v. Jefferson, 163 Wis. 2d 332, 337, 471 N.W.2d 274 (Ct. App. 1991); State v. Mahone, 127 Wis. 2d 364, 370, 379 N.W.2d 878, 881 (Ct. App. 1985). The minimum procedural requirements are:

(1) an initial hearing to justify detention pending a final commitment hearing; (2) written notice of the claimed violation; (3) disclosure of the evidence against the subject; (4) an opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence; (5) the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses (unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation); (6) a neutral and detached hearing body, and (7) a written statement by the fact-finder(s) as to the evidence relied upon and reasons for revocation of the conditional discharge.

Jefferson, 163 Wis. 2d at 337-38, quoting Mahone, 127 Wis. 2d at 370. See also Wis. Stat. § 971.17(7)(a)

(listing rights of defendant at hearings under § 971.17).

B. The circuit court's reliance on previously filed reports from a psychologist show the court was objectively biased, and Klapps is therefore entitled to a new revocation hearing.

Page 18 of 34

The proceeding in this case comported in many ways with the minimum requirements of due process. Klapps was given written notice of the claimed violations. (193; 194). The evidence against him was disclosed—albeit not until the day before the hearing. (195). He appeared in person at the hearing. (203:3; App. 103). He had the opportunity to call witnesses or present his own evidence to confront and cross-examine Woodbridge, the state's witness; however, his ability to confront the witnesses to his alleged behavior was limited to the extent Woodridge had witnessed only one of the incidents on the list he compiled and got the rest by reviewing Bonnie View records. (203:5; App. 105).<sup>2</sup>

But in one crucial way the revocation hearing was fundamentally unfair. Specifically, the circuit court's statement of reasons for granting the state's petition to revoke conditional release created an appearance of bias that revealed a great risk of actual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Klapps acknowledges that any potential defects regarding disclosure of the evidence and the opportunity to confront witnesses were not objected to below, so any challenge to them is forfeited.

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 19 of 34

bias, and that appearance of bias violated Klapps's due process right to an impartial decision maker.

Judges are presumed to act fairly, impartially, and without prejudice. State v. Gudgeon, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶20, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 720 N.W.2d 114; State v. Goodson, 2009 WI App 107, ¶8, 320 Wis. 2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385. A defendant may rebut the presumption by showing that, even in the absence of actual bias, there is an appearance of bias on the judge's part that reveals a great risk of actual bias. Gudgeon, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶¶20-24; Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶¶9, 14. See also Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co., 556 U.S. 868, 885 (2009). An appearance of bias offends due process principles when a reasonable into person—taking consideration human psychological tendencies and weaknesses—would conclude that the average judge could not be trusted to "hold the balance nice, clear and true" under all the circumstances. Gudgeon, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶¶23-24; Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶9. Whether a judge exhibited this kind of bias is a question of law that this court reviews independently. Goodson,320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶7. See also State v. Herrmann, 2015 WI 84, ¶¶3, 23-36, 46, 364 Wis. 2d 336, 867 N.W.2d 772.

In *Gudgeon* this court examined whether a defendant had received due process where the judge had, in advance of the revocation hearing, written a note on a proposal from the probation agent saying "I want his probation extended." 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶¶2-3. This court concluded that "[t]he ordinary

Case 2019AP001753 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 20 of 34

reasonable person would discern a great risk that the trial court in this case had already made up its mind to extend probation long before the extension hearing took place. Further, nothing in the transcript of the extension hearing would dispel these concerns." *Id.*, ¶26.

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