### RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **01-15-2020** 

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** 

#### DISTRICT II

Case Nos. 2019AP1753-CR & 2019AP1754-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BENJAMIN J. KLAPPS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER REVOKING CONDITIONAL RELEASE, ENTERED IN WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE SCOTT C. WOLDT PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did Defendant-Appellant Benjamin J. Klapps procedurally default his judicial bias claim by not presenting it in a postdisposition motion to the trial court before filing this appeal, and forfeit it by not objecting at the revocation hearing?

Klapps did not object at the revocation hearing to the trial judge's consideration of a psychologist's reports from prior proceedings that he now argues shows judicial bias against him. Klapps also did not move for postdisposition relief on this or any other ground in the trial court before filing this appeal from the revocation order.

This Court should affirm because Klapps both procedurally defaulted and forfeited his judicial bias claim.

2. Did Klapps prove that the trial judge was objectively biased against him because he considered the psychologist's reports along with the testimony at the revocation hearing as support for his decision to order revocation?

Klapps did not raise this issue in the trial court.

This Court should affirm because Klapps failed to prove the appearance of judicial bias. Klapps merely disagrees with the trial court's decision to order revocation of his conditional release based on relevant evidence that it could properly consider.

3. Is Klapps entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice?

Klapps did not raise this issue in the trial court. Klapps invokes this Court's discretionary reversal authority under Wis. Stat. § 752.35.

This Court should not grant Klapps a new trial because the real controversy was fully and fairly tried.

#### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument or publication. This case should be resolved based on the application of established procedural default and forfeiture principles.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Klapps was committed to the Winnebago Mental Health Institute on October 24, 2000, after he was found not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect based on his guilty plea to sexual assault of a child and felony bail jumping. (R. 17.)<sup>1</sup> The trial court ordered that he be committed to the Department of Health and Family Services for 26 years and 8 months. (*Id.*)

In the years since that original commitment order, Klapps has been conditionally released several times, only to be revoked and recommitted. Beginning in January 2015, the court received several reports prepared by a psychologist, Dr. Allen Hauer, who assessed whether Klapps should be released and, if so, under what conditions. (R. 115; 120; 127; 165; 173.) Dr. Hauer issued his first report on January 14. 2015, and his last report on May 21, 2018.<sup>2</sup>

On March 4, 2019, the Department filed a petition to revoke Klapps's conditional release to a group home based on several incidents in late 2018 and early 2019 where he was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As has Klapps, the State will cite to the record in appeal number 2019AP1753-CR in these consolidated cases unless otherwise indicated. (Klapps's Br. 2 n.1.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A Dr. Kevin Miller also was appointed on several occasions to do independent psychological evaluations of Klapps and he, like Dr. Hauer, issued reports beginning in January 2016 regarding Klapps's suitability for conditional release. (R. 131; 154; 162; 168; 179; 185.)

alleged to have sexually harassed, made inappropriate comments to, and ultimately threatened harm to staff at the group home. (R. 193; 194; 195.) A revocation hearing was held on March 6, 2019, before Winnebago County Circuit Judge Scott C. Woldt as fact-finder. (R. 203.) The only witness who testified was Klapps's case manager, Patrick Woodbridge, who chronicled the alleged rules violations committed in late 2018 and early 2019 while Klapps was out on conditional release. (R. 203:4–18.) Dr. Hauer did not examine Klapps or issue a report for this proceeding.

Judge Woldt found that the State proved grounds for revocation by clear and convincing evidence in that Klapps violated the rules of his conditional release and posed a substantial risk of serious bodily harm to others. Judge Woldt ordered that his conditional release be revoked. (R. 196; 197; 203:23–24.)

Klapps did not seek postdisposition relief in the trial court under Wis. Stat. § 971.17(7m). He appealed directly from the revocation order. (R. 199.)

Additional relevant facts will be discussed in the Argument to follow.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

1. This Court reviews de novo the issue whether a defendant adequately preserved or forfeited his right to appellate review of a particular claim. *State v. Coffee*, 2020 WI 1, ¶ 17.

2. This Court reviews de novo the issue whether the judge at the revocation hearing was impartial. *State v. Herrmann*, 2015 WI 84, ¶ 23, 364 Wis. 2d 336, 867 N.W.2d 772; *State v. Goodson*, 2009 WI App 107, ¶ 7, 320 Wis. 2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385.

3. This Court reviews de novo the issue of statutory construction whether Wis. Stat. § 971.17(3)(e) allowed the

trial court to consider a psychologist's reports discussing Klapps's mental health history and his past performance both while institutionalized and out on conditional release when assessing his present dangerousness. *State v. Denny*, 2017 WI 17, ¶ 46, 373 Wis. 2d 390, 891 N.W.2d 144.

4. This Court's decision whether to grant a new trial in the interest of justice under Wis. Stat. § 752.35, either because the real controversy was not fully tried or there was a miscarriage of justice, is discretionary. *Vollmer v. Luety*, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 17–21, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990). This Court independently reviews the record before making the discretionary determination whether a new trial is warranted in the interest of justice. *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 12, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719.

I. Klapps procedurally defaulted his right to appellate review of his judicial bias claim by not seeking postdisposition review in the trial court and forfeited his judicial bias claim by not objecting at the revocation hearing.

Klapps argues that he was denied due process of law because Judge Woldt was objectively biased against him. This occurred, he maintains, when Judge Woldt considered Dr. Hauer's reports discussing his mental health history and performance while institutionalized and on conditional release between 2015 and 2018, Klapps maintains that Judge Woldt was only permitted to consider the specific alleged violations that occurred during his conditional release in late 2018 and early 2019 about which Patrick Woodbridge testified at the revocation hearing. (Klapps's Br. 11–19).

Klapps openly admits, however, that he did not object to the trial court's consideration of Dr. Hauer's reports at the hearing. (Klapps's Br. 17). Klapps acknowledges that he "forfeited" the arguments that the Department failed to disclose evidence or that he was denied the right to confront his accusers (presumably Dr. Hauer) at the revocation hearing. (Klapps's Br. 13 n.2.) Klapps also failed to object on the ground, presented for the first time here, that the trial court could not take judicial notice of Dr. Hauer's reports even though they were already in the record and their existence was presumably known to him and his attorney from the prior proceedings. (Klapps's Br. 19–20.) Finally, Klapps failed to seek post-disposition review of the revocation order in the trial court before appealing that order to this Court.

#### A. Klapps procedurally defaulted his right to appellate review by not first moving for postdisposition relief in the trial court.

Although Klapps filed a notice of intent to seek postdisposition review in the trial court, (R. 198), he failed to do so. Rather, he appealed directly from the revocation order without first seeking relief in the trial court. (R. 199.)

Before appealing the revocation order to this Court, Klapps was required to first seek postdisposition review of that order in the trial court to give it the first opportunity to correct the alleged error of its ways. As provided in Wis. Stat. § 971.17(7m):

MOTION FOR POSTDISPOSITION RELIEF AND APPEAL. (a) A motion for postdisposition relief from a final order or judgment by a person subject to this section shall be made in the time and manner provided in ss. 809.30 to 809.32. An appeal by a person subject to this section from a final order or judgment under this section or from an order denying a motion for postdisposition relief shall be taken in the time and manner provided in ss. 808.04(3) and 809.30 to 809.32. The person shall file a motion for postdisposition relief in the circuit court before a notice of appeal is filed unless the grounds for seeking relief are sufficiency of the evidence or issues previously raised.

Wis. Stat. § 971.17(7m).

This subsection was created by 2009 Wis. Act 26. It mirrors Wis. Stat. § 974.02(2) and Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30(2)(h). "The person shall file a motion for postconviction or postdisposition relief before a notice of appeal is filed unless the grounds for seeking relief are sufficiency of the evidence or issues previously raised." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30(2)(h).

Like its criminal law counterparts, this subsection unequivocally required Klapps to file a motion for postdisposition relief in the trial court before he could appeal the revocation order. See State v. Monje, 109 Wis. 2d 138, 151, 325 N.W.2d 695 ("This court has adopted a policy of encouraging the trial court to correct errors before appeal is taken."), reconsideration denied, 327 N.W.2d 641 (Wis. 1982); State ex rel. Rothering v. McCaughtry, 205 Wis. 2d 675, 678 n.3, 556 N.W.2d 136 (Ct. App. 1996); see also Coffee, 2020 WI 1,  $\P\P$  31, 41 ("[W]hile an objection may be the best practice, a postconviction motion is also a timely manner in which to assert that claim.... We note that the postconviction court had the opportunity to address this issue.").

Klapps's judicial bias challenge, raised for the first time here, was not "previously raised" and is not a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence. Had Klapps filed a postdisposition motion, the trial court could have directly addressed the judicial bias claim, reopened the hearing and ordered Dr. Hauer to testify, allowed Klapps to supplement the record with additional evidence, ordered an independent evaluation, or provided a justifiable basis for its reliance on Dr. Hauer's reports. Klapps deprived the trial court of that opportunity before coming into this Court. By so proceeding, Klapps has procedurally defaulted his right to appellate review of his judicial bias claim. See Martinez v. Ryan, 926 F.3d 1215, 1223-26 (9th Cir. 2019); Greer v. Minnesota, 493 F.3d 952, 957–58 (8th Cir. 2007) (upholding on federal habeas corpus review state court rulings that the petitioners procedurally defaulted judicial bias claims by not properly

seeking state postconviction review); *see also Pinno v. Wachtendorf*, 845 F.3d 328, 330–31 (7th Cir. 2017) (upholding on federal habeas corpus review the Wisconsin Supreme Court's determination that the petitioner forfeited his public trial challenge by not objecting).

# B. Klapps forfeited his constitutional challenge by not objecting at the revocation hearing.

Klapps did not object when the trial court referenced Dr. Hauer's reports at the revocation hearing. Failure to object at trial generally precludes appellate review of a claim, even a claim of a structural constitutional violation. State v. *Pinno*, 2014 WI 74, ¶¶ 55–66, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207 (claimed denial of the structural public trial right at voir dire was forfeited by failure to timely object), cert. denied, Pinno v. Wisconsin, 574 U.S. 1062 (2014); State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶¶ 10-11, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. Double jeopardy challenges also may be waived or forfeited. United States v. Broce, 488 U.S. 563, 570–74 (1989); see State v. Kelty, 2006 WI 101, ¶¶ 2, 19–26, 28–30, 34, 38–42, 52, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886 (a guilty plea waives any double jeopardy challenge in a case where further fact-finding is needed). A multiplicity challenge is also waived by the failure to timely object. State v. Koller, 2001 WI App 253, ¶¶ 41–44, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838.

"The forfeiture rule fosters the fair, efficient, and orderly administration of justice." *Coffee*, 2020 WI 1, ¶ 19. To properly preserve an objection for review, the litigant must "articulate the specific grounds for the objection unless its basis is obvious from its context... so that both parties and courts have notice of the disputed issues as well as a fair opportunity to prepare and address them in a way that most efficiently uses judicial resources." *State v. Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d 164, 172–73, 593 N.W.2d 427 (1999) (citations omitted). Application of the forfeiture rule encourages timely objections which will give the trial court notice of the error and the opportunity to correct it, thereby avoiding an unnecessary appeal. *Coffee*, 2020 WI 1, ¶ 19. It also prevents "sandbagging." *Id*. (citation omitted).

This Court may only address waived or forfeited errors under its discretionary reversal authority set out at Wis. Stat. § 752.35, State v. Beasley, 2004 WI App 42, ¶ 17 n.4, 271 Wis. 2d 469, 678 N.W.2d 600; or in the form of a challenge to the effective assistance of trial counsel for not objecting, with the burden of proving both deficient performance and actual prejudice the defendant. squarely on Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1910–13 (2017); Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 375 (1986); Coffee, 2020 WI 1, ¶ 22; *Pinno*, 356 Wis. 2d 106, ¶¶ 81–86.

Klapps forfeited his judicial bias challenge by not objecting. See Pinno, 845 F.3d at 330–31 (forfeiture of public trial violation claim by not objecting at trial). This is so even assuming the judicial bias claim is deemed structural error. *Id.*; Pinno, 356 Wis. 2d 106, ¶¶ 55–66.

Klapps maintains that a judicial bias claim is somehow different from other structural errors that can be forfeited but he does not adequately explain why. (Klapps's Br. 17–19.) It is important to note that Klapps does not argue that judge Woldt was *actually* biased against him at the hearing; only that Judge Woldt was *potentially* biased because his reliance on Dr. Hauer's reports created the *appearance* of bias. *Cf. State v. Carprue*, 2004 WI 111, ¶¶ 57–58, 274 Wis. 2d 656, 683 N.W.2d 31 (the defendant claimed he had "a biased judge" and argued that the trial judge "was not impartial"). Klapps alleged only that Judge Woldt's decision "created an appearance of bias that revealed a great risk of actual bias." (Klapps's Br. 13–14.)

Klapps relies on *Carprue* to argue that his claim of the appearance of judicial bias cannot be forfeited because it is structural error. The subsequent decisions by the United States Supreme Court in Weaver and by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Pinno* defeat that argument. The claim can only be reviewed in the form of a challenge to the effective assistance of trial counsel for not objecting. Weaver, 137 S. Ct. at 1910–13. If, on the other hand, Klapps had shown after the fact that Judge Woldt was actually biased against him (because of proven racial or ethnic bias, a monetary interest in the outcome, a personal relationship with the victim or the victim's family, or a personal vendetta against Klapps) it would be reasonable to hold that he did not forfeit the actual bias claim by failing to object especially if proof of the judge's actual bias came to light after the hearing. That was plainly not the case here. The claim here is only that there was the potential for actual bias based on the judge's reliance on Dr. Hauer's reports at the hearing. As with other structural trial errors, Klapps was required to timely bring this matter to the trial court's attention when it arose. He did not. He also did not even bring it to the court's attention on postdisposition review. Klapps does not argue that he was unaware of Dr. Hauer's reports or that they were inaccurate. Cf. Coffee, 2020 WI 1, ¶ 31 ("[T]he forfeiture rule does not apply to previously unknown, inaccurate information first raised by the State at sentencing.").

Finally, Klapps does not argue that his attorney was ineffective for failing to interpose a judicial bias objection. See *Pinno*, 356 Wis. 2d 106, ¶¶ 81–82; *Carprue*, 274 Wis. 2d 656, ¶ 47 (when there is a failure to object, the alleged error is normally addressed in the form of a challenge to trial counsel's effectiveness). This Court should, therefore, affirm without reaching the merits of his constitutional challenge.

II. Klapps failed to prove the appearance of judicial bias because the trial judge as fact-finder properly considered Dr. Hauer's reports when assessing Klapps's present dangerousness.

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